IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LAVERNE BOWDEN,	** 57,670
Petitioner,	**
VS.	CASE NO. 55,962 **
v.s.	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	** FILED
Respondent.	** JAN 2 1980
WILLIAM RUSH WILLIAMS,	** SID J. WHITE CLERK SUPREME COURT
Petitioner,	** CASE NO. 57 Chief Deputy Clerk
VS.	**
STATE OF FLORIDA,	**
Respondent.	**

APPELLANTS' CONSOLIDATED BRIEF

GARLAND, NUCKOLLS, KADISH MARTIN & CATTS, P.C. 1 7 1 a

EDWARD T. M. GARLAND ATTORNEY FOR LAVERNE BOWDEN

1012 Candler Building Atlanta, Georgia 30303 404/577-2225

HARRISON AND SNYDER

JAMES L. HARRISON ATTORNEY FOR WILLIAM RUSH WILLIAMS

218 East Forsyth Street Jacksonville, Florida 32202 904/358-1560

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioners were defendants in the Circuit Court in and for Duval County, Florida. Both petitioners will be referred to as "Appellants". All references to the Record on Appeal will be by Appeal Docket number and page number, i.e., R(1) 1 showing item number in brackets and page number standing free.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants argue that F.S. §943.46 <u>et seq.</u> [The Florida Rico Act] is facially unconstitutional under the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution and Laws of the State of Florida.

Appellants further argue that F.S. §943.46 <u>et seq. supra</u> is unconstitutional as applied in that the predicate crimes forming the basis of this prosecution under the Florida Rico Acts arise under F.S. §847 <u>et seq.</u> [The Florida Obscenity Acts], all in violation of the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution and Laws of Florida.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Both Appellants were chraged in a two count indictment alleging that they engaged in and conspired to engage in a violation of F.S. §943.46 <u>et seq.</u> and F.S. §847 <u>et seq.</u> R(6) 31-690.

Appellants filed motions to dismiss alleging certain United States and Florida Constitutional infirmities R(7-8-9-11) 691-703-709 712; all of which were denied on March 29, 1979 R(12) 714.

Appellants entered pleas of nolo contendere before the Honorable Ralph U. Nimmons, Judge Circuit Court in and for Duval County, Florida R(13) 715 and were placed on probation and fined by Judge Nimmons R(14) 766 with the agreed stipulation that Appellants would be allowed to attack the Constitutionality of the Rico statute, particularly as applied to the predicate crime of obscenity R(14) 766. The Supreme Court of Florida consolidated the Appeals R(29) 799, both Appellants having exercised their right to appeal R(17-18) 789-790.

-3-

ARGUMENT I

ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY

THE FLORIDA RICO STATUTE DEFINES A RACKETEERING CRIME SO VAGUE, OVERBOARD AND UNFAIR, PARTICULARLY WHEN APPLIED IN A CONTEXT OF FREE SPEECH, PRESS AND ASSOCIATION THAT IT MUST BE HELD UNCONSTITUTIONAL

The Florida RICO legislation condemning "racketeers" who brush against "enterprises" carries "the vice of vagueness". Interstate Circuit v. City of Dallas, 390 U.S. 676, 684, 88 S.Ct. 1298 (1968). A careful analysis of the statutory elements reveals a bizarre "racketeer" crime comparable to the "gangster" crime invalidated by a unanimous Supreme Court in Lanzetta v. New Jersey, 306 U.S. 451, 59 S.Ct. 618, 83 L.Ed. 888 (1939). Further, the predicate crime here involves obscenity, a field of regulation presumptively protected by our guarantees of free speech and press. Finally, one part of the obscenity definition, which substitutes subjective notions of pandering for objective evaluation of the work in question, itself suffers from vagueness.

The Florida Courts have never hesitated to strike down statutes and ordinances found to be void for vagueness. <u>See</u> <u>Brown v. State</u>, 358 So.2d 16 (Fla. 1978) (profane and vulgar and indecent language in the presence of others); <u>State v.</u> <u>Nesshow</u>, 343 So.2d 605 (Fla. 1977) (one "who is guilty of malpractice in office not otherwise expecially provided"); Steffens v. State ex rel. Lugo, 343 So.2d 90 (Fla. 3rd DCA.

-4-

1977) (Municipal ordinances prohibiting topless dancing); State v. Winters, 346 So.2d 901 (Fla. 1977) ("negligent treatment of children"); D'Alemberte v. Anderson, 349 So.2d 164 (Fla. 1977) (accepting gifts "that would cause a reasonably prudent person to be influenced in the discharge of official duties"); State v. Dinsmore, 308 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1975) (requiring specified officers or employees of named political subdivisions to file a sworn statement disclosing their interest in any business which is subject to regulations of or which has substantial business commitments from the governmental units); Cuccarelli v. The City of Key West, Fla., 321 So.2d 472 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1975) (ordinance which prohibited loitering which hindered or impeded or tended to inder or impede passage of pedestrians or vehicles); State v. Barguet, 262 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1972) (statutes prohibiting abortions except those "necessary to preserve the life of such mother"); World Fair Freaks and Attractions, Inc. v. George Hodges, Police Chief, North Bay Village, Florida, 267 So.2d 817 (Fla. 1972) (exhibitions for pay of any crippled or physically distorted, malformed or disfigured person); State v. Lopis, 257 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1971) (other employment which would impair his independence of judgment in performance of his regular public duties); Franklin v. State, 257 So.2d 21 (Fla. 1971) (anyone commiting the abominable and detestable crime against nature, either with mankind or beast); State v. Buchanan, 191 So.2d 33 (Fla. 1966) (prohibiting fees for child placement but allows

-5-

"reasonable charges or fees" for legal services); <u>Lochlin v.</u> <u>Pridgeon</u>, 30 So.2d 102 (Fla. 1947) (Public officer commiting act "not authorized by law").

While the Florida cases construing the void for vagueness doctrine may not be completely consistent, <u>compare Moffett v.</u> <u>State</u>, 340 So.2d 1155 Fla. 1977 ("no topless bathing") <u>with</u> <u>Steffens v. State ex rel. Lugo</u>, 343 So.2d 90 ("topless dancing permissible"), nevertheless, certain concepts run through all the Florida decisions whether striking down or upholding the particular enactments attacked.

These concepts are:

(1) Under the Florida constitution [Constitution, Art. II
§3 F.S.A.] the Courts cannot legislate. <u>State v. Egan</u>, 287
So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973); <u>Lochlin v. Pridgeon</u>, 30 So.2d 102 (Fla. 1947).

(2) If reasonably possible the statute must be construed
 so as to uphold its constitutionality, <u>Cheseborough v. State</u>,
 255 So.2d (Fla. 1971).

(3) "When construing a <u>penal</u> <u>statute</u> against an attack of vagueness, where there is doubt, the doubt should be resolved in favor of the citizen and against the State" <u>State v. Wershow</u>, 343 So.2d 605-608. (Fla. 1977)

(4) Criminal statutes are to be strictly construed, <u>State</u>v. Buchanan, 191 So.2d 33 (Fla. 1966).

-6-

(5) Florida has a higher standard and a more precise definition of notice in the due process context than has been propounded by the United States Supreme Court in "void for vagueness" cases. Indeed, Florida has specifically rejected the United States Supreme Court's test that the statute must be so vague that "men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning!" <u>Brock v. Hardie</u>, 154 So. 690 (Fla. 1934), as quoted with approval in <u>State v. Wershow</u>, 343 So.2d 605-609 (Fla. 1977).

The true test in Florida, as set out in <u>Wershow</u>, <u>supra</u>, quoting with approval <u>Brock v. Hardie</u>, <u>supra</u>, is:

> . . .Whether the words of the Florida statute are sufficiently explicit to inform those who are subject to its provisions what conduct on their part will render them liable to its penalties is the test by which the statute must stand or fall, because, as was stated in the opinion above mentioned, "a statute which either forbids or requires the doing of an act in terms so vague that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application violates the first essential of due process of law."

Such seems to be the test approved by the Supreme Court of the United States Citation of authorities as to what may be considered the exact meaning of the phrase "so vague that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning, "so that certain conduct may be considered within or outside the true meaning of that phrase, or what language of a statute may lie within or without it, would be of little aid to us. We must apply our own knowledge, with which observation and experience have supplied us in determining whether words employed by the statute are reasonably clear or not in indicating the legislative purpose, so that a person who may be liable to the penalties of the act may know that he is within its provisions or not.

(Emphasis in original)

The Separation of Powers doctrine [Constitution, Art. II, Section 3, F.S.A.] supplies another facet in interpreting the void for vagueness doctrine in Florida that is missing in Federal Constitutional law. The Florida courts are much less likely to add by inference or to construe by implication than the federal courts, particularly in construing penal statutes. They [Florida courts] are reluctant to "legislate" so as to save the statute being attacked. <u>See Brown v. State</u>, 358 So.2d 16 (Fla. 1978). <u>See generally</u>, Brennan, <u>State Constitutions</u> <u>and the Protection of Individual Rights</u>, 90 Harv. L.Rev. 489 (1977).

The policy reasons behind the void-for-vagueness doctrine are well stated in <u>Grayned v. City of Rockford</u>, 408 U.S.104, 108-09, 92 S.Ct. 2294, 33 L.Ed. 2d 222 (1972),

> It is a basic principle of due process that an enactment is void for vagueness if its prohibitions are not clearly defined. Vague laws offend several important values. First, because we assume that man is free to steer between lawful and unlawful conduct, we insist that laws given the person of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited, so that he may act accordingly. Vague laws may trap the innocent

> > -8-

by not provididng fair warning. Second, if arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement is to be prevented, laws must provide explicit standards for those who apply them. A vague law impermissibly delegates basic policy matters to policemen, judges, and juries for resolution on an ad hoc and subjective basis, with the attendant dangers of arbitrary and discriminatory application. Third, but related, where a vague statute "abut[s] upon sensitive areas of basic First Amendment freedoms," it "operates to inhibit the exercise of [those] freedoms," Uncertain meanings inevitably lead citizens to "'steer far wider of the unlawful zone' . . . than if the boundaries of the forbidden areas were clearly marked."

(footnotes omitted)

<u>See also, Hynes v. Mayor of Oradel</u>, 425 U.S. 610, 620, 96 S.Ct. 1755, 48 L.Ed.2d 243 (1976).

Additionally, a related concept is the First Amendment overbreadth doctrine. A statute, through clear and precise, may, nevertheless, be overbroad if the words of the statute and the clear meaning derived therefrom reach constitutionally protected activities. <u>Winters v. New York</u>, 333 U.S. 507, 408 U.S. 104, 92 S.Ct. 2294, 33 L.Ed.2d 272 (1972); <u>United</u> <u>States v. Baranski</u>, 484 F.2d 556 (7th Cir. 1973). In order to prevent any "chilling effects" on constitutionally protected areas, the courts are especially concerned with overbreadth in relation to statutes affecting First Amendment rights. <u>See generally</u>, note, <u>The First Amendment Overbreadth Doctrine</u>, 83 Harv. L. Rev. 844 (1970).

-9-

To understand precisely the awesome statutory crime being charged in the case at hand, a careful step-by-step analysis is necessary.

To begin with, the Florida RICO Act has created a new crime, §943.462(3), Fla. Stat., punishable as a first degree felony. The definitional elements of that "racketeering" crime are synthesized below:

THE FLORIDA RICO ACT

It is unlawful for any person employed by or associated with any "enterprise", meaning absolutely any individual, legal entity, or group of individuals associated in fact,* to conduct or participate directly or indirectly in such enterprise through a "pattern of racketeering activity", meaning engaging in at least two interrelated incidents of racketeering

*The full definition of "enterprise" under the Florida RICO Act is as follows:

> (3) "Enterprise" means any individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, corporation, business trust, union chartered under the laws of this state, or other legal entity, or any unchartered union, association, or group of individuals associated in fact although not a legal entity, and it includes illicit as well as licit enterprises and governmental as well as other entities.

§943.461(3), Fla. Stat.

conduct* or racketeering activity", meaning to commit, to attempt to commit, to conspire to commit, or to solicit, coerce, or intimidate another person to commit, among other things**, any crime which is chargeable under those provisions of the Florida Statutes, Sections 847.011, 847.012, 847.013, 847.06, and 947.07, Florida Statutes, relating to obscene literature and profanity.***

Step two in the analysis is a similar exposition of the wholesale promotion crime created in §847.07:

*The Act defines "pattern of racketeering activity" in full as follows:

> (4) "Pattern of racketeering activity" means engaging in at least two incidents of racketeering conduct that have the same or similar intents, results, accomplices, victime, or methods of commission, or otherwise are interrelated by distinguishing characteristics and are not isolated incidents, provided at least one of such incidents occurred within 5 years after a prior incident of racketeering conduct.

§943.461(4), Fla. Stat.

**§943.461(1), Fla. Stat. defines "racketeering activity"
as above and then (a) lists 22 predicate crimes (including
obscenity crimes) chargeable under Florida Statutes and (b)
adopts by reference the predicate crimes or conduct listed in
the federal RICO law. The federal act does not claim obscenity
crimes as predicate racketeering activity. See 18 U.S.C.
§1961(1).

***§946.461(a)(1)22., Fla. Stat.

WHOLESALE PROMOTION OF MATERIAL DEEMED OBSCENE

Any person is guilty of a third degree felony who knowingly "wholesale promotes" meaning to manufacture, issue, sell, provide, deliver, transfer, transmute, publish, distribute, circulate, or disseminate any obscene matter or performance or to offer or agree to do the same, with or without consideration, for purposes of resale or redistribution, or who in any manner knowingly hires, employs, uses, or permits any person to wholesale promote or assist in wholesale promoting any such "obscene material" meaning matter "of any description" if, (I) considered as a whole and applying community standards, (A) its predominant appeal is to prurient interest, i.e., a shameful or morbid interest in nudity, sex or excretion, and (B) it is utterly without redeeming social value and (C) in addition, it goes substantially beyond customary limits of candor in describing or representing such matters or (II) in the alternative, the distribution of erotica which is not otherwise obscene, or the offer to do so, or the possession with the intent to do so, is a commercial exploitation

-12-

of erotica solely for the sake of their purient appeal.* Finally, if we combine the RICO crime with the wholesale promotion predicate crime and boil down the terms, the actual charge emerges:

PATTERN OF RACKETEERING AND WHOLESALE PROMOTION CRIMES COMBINED AND CONDENSED

It is unlawful for anyone associated with anyone or anything to participate indirectly in said anyone or anything through two or more interrelated incidents of such conduct or activity as knowingly [permitting anyone to assist in] offering to distribute any obscene matter without any consideration for purposes of further distribution.

^{*}In <u>State v. Aiuppa</u>, 298 So.2d 391 (Fla. 1974), part I of this definition of obscenity (§847.07(2), Fla. Stat.) was judicially construed by the Florida Supreme Court to conform with the minimum federal standards of <u>Miller v. California</u>, 413 U.S. 15, 93 S.Ct. 2607, 37 (L.Ed.2d 419 (1973) and of <u>Paris Adult</u> <u>Theater I v. Slayton</u>, 413 U.S. 49, 93 S.Ct. 2628, 37 L.Ed.2d 446 (1973), except that the higher Florida statutory "value of the work" standard (i.e., §847.07(2)(b), Fla. St.) stated as part I(B) above) would continue to govern at least until the Legislature changed it. Part B of the definition (§847.07(3), (Fla. Stat.) was not passed upon by the Court in <u>Aiuppa</u>. <u>Id</u> at 393.

This distillation represents extreme formulation of the statutory framework being pressed against the defendants.* We submit that this composite crime is bizarrely unconstitutional. One is reminded of the "gangster crime" voided by the Supreme Court in <u>Lanzetta v. New Jersey</u>, 306 U.S. 451, 452 &. n. 1, 59 S.Ct. 618, 83 L.Ed. 888 (1939). The statute condemned there provided:

> Any person not engaged in any lawful occupation, known to be a member of any gang consisting of two or more persons, who has been convicted at least three times of being a disorderly person, or who has been convicted of any crime, in this or in any other State, is declared to be a gangster provided, however, that nothing in this section contained shall in any wise be construed to include any participant or sympathiser in any labor dispute.

In RICO the "racketeer" actor is "associated with" an "enterprise", a legal fiction meaning anyone or anything. Under the New Jersey law the "gangster" actor had to be a "member" of any "gang consisting of two or more persons" and to be "known" as such. New Jersey wins. To be a "known member" of a "gang" is less vague than being "associated with"

-14-

^{*}The bracketed language states one statutory alternative way of commiting wholesale promotion. We have bracketed it merely because these elements are not tracked in the indictment. Whether this is part of the State's theory, we do not know.

a catch-all RICO enterprise".* Both statutes have predicate crimes. In RICO, of course, there are two or more as yet ordinarily unproven offenses picked from a long list which, in Florida, includes some misdemeanors. <u>Compare</u> §943.461(1) (9)22, Fla. Stat., <u>with</u> §847.011(1)(a), Fla. Stat. Under the New Jersey law <u>convictions</u> were required, three disorderly conduct convictions or any crime. Again, New Jersey gave clearer warning (although of an unlimited list of predicate crimes). But Florida wins on penalty. "Racketeers" get 30 years; "gangsters" 20.

The vice in each statute is the nebulous link between the malefactor and the forbidden group. Neither statute requires the actor to have any criminal knowledge of or intent toward the group. For "Gangsters" the entire nexus is membership, which implies knowledge and, in the case of an informal association like a gang, some participation. For "racketeer", the nexus hangs on two phrases. "Associated with" is utter weasel language. "Participates indirectly in" is no better. Even without the adverb, "participates" is ambiguous. With such an open-ended modifier, and given such an open-ended "enterprise", the phrase does nothing. This nexus is a void

-15-

^{*}Furthermore, RICO sweeps more broadly than the New Jersey statute since it criminalizes "anyone" rather than just persons "not engaged in a lawful occupation."

itself. In any event, enormous vagueness, indefiniteness, uncertainty, and potential overbreadth lurk here. Presumably one can, through two predicate acts, "participate directly" in "anyone or anything" without ever knowing that the behavior had some ill-defined relationship to such an ill-defined group. The membership link in Lanzetta is at least strong.

The case at hand is much more compelling than <u>Lanzetta</u>. The predicate crimes here are presumptively protected by our Constitution. Regulation of obscenity requires more precision and specifity than ordinarily demanded. And, to make matters worse, the obscenity statute itself suffers from an intolerably vague alternative definition of obscenity. Matter not otherwise obscene can be deemed obscene if the factfinder is convinced of pandering motives. Such subjective variable standards are the final kiss of vagueness.

Florida Court's have had a number of occasions to quote <u>United States v. Reese</u>, 92 U.S. 214, 221, 23 L.Ed. 563 (1876). <u>E.g.</u>, <u>State ex rel. Lee v. Buchanan</u>, 191 So.2d 33, 37 (Fla. 1966; <u>State v. Llopis</u>, 257 So.2d 17, 19 (Fla. 1971). In Reese, supra, the Supreme Court declared:

> It would certainly be dangerous if the Legislature could set a net large enough to catch all possible offenders and leave it to the courts to step inside and say who could be rightfully detained

> > -16-

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