LAVERNE BOWDEN,	*
Appellant,	*
-vs-	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	*
Appellee.	*
WILLIAM RUSH WILLIAMS,	*
Appellant,	*
-vs-	ste
STATE OF FLORIDA,	*
Appellee.	*

57,670 CASE NO: 55,962 FILED FEB 29 1980 SID J. WHITE CLERK SUPREME COURT By_ **Chief Deputy Cierl** CASE NO. 57,669

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General

DORIS E. JENKINS Assistant Attorney General

The Capitol Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-0600 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellants' Preliminary Statement is adopted by the Appellee.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellants' Statements of the Case and Facts are accepted by the Appellee.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE FLORIDA RICO STATUTE AS APPLIED SUB JUDICE IS NEITHER VAGUE NOR OVER-BROAD.

Appellants argue essentially that the Florida Rico Statute suffers from vagueness and overbreadth in that it has a chilling effect when applied to concepts of freedom of speech, press and association. We state preliminarily that for purposes of enhancing clarity of the issues involved, <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u>, Appellee has elected to address the various issues (as we view them) as separate sub-issues under this point.

A. WHETHER APPELLANTS HAVE STANDING TO CHALLENGE SECTION 943.46, FLORIDA STATUTES, ET <u>SEQ.</u>

While Appellants have understandably chosen not to address this particular issue, we feel it incumbent upon us to reach this issue before any other raised here. Appellee submits that Appellants have standing to challenge only those portions of Chapter 943, Fla.Stat., which directly affect them. Specifically, Appellants have standing to challenge only

Sections 943.461(1)(a)(22), 943.461(3) and (4), and 943.462(3) and (4) as these are the only provisions of the Act which directly affect them. As to other provisions of the Rico Act, Appellants lack standing to launch a constitutional attack. <u>Jordan v. State</u>, 334 So.2d 589 (Fla. 1976); <u>State ex rel. Hoffman v. Vocelle</u>, 31 So.2d 52 (Fla. 1947); Sandstrom v. Leader, 370 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1979).

B. WHETHER SECTIONS 943.461(1)(a)(22)(3) and (4) and 943.462(3) and (4), FLA. STAT., ARE UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE.

In setting the appropriate standard to be employed when weighing challenges on grounds of vagueness, this Court in Brock v. Hardie, 154 So. 690 (Fla. 1934), opined:

> ". . . Whether the words of the Florida statute are sufficiently explicit to inform those who are subject to its provisions what conduct on their part will render them liable to its penalties is the test by which the statute must stand or fall, because, as was stated in the opinion above mentioned, 'a statute which either forbids or requires the doing of an act in terms so vague that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application violates the first essential of due process of law.'" <u>Brock</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 694.

The relevant statutory provisions provide:

"943.461 <u>Definitions</u>.--As used in ss. 943.46-943.465:

(1) 'Racketeering activity' means to commit, to attempt to commit, to conspire to commit, or to solicit, coerce, or intimidate another person to commit:

(a) Any crime which is chargeable by indictment or information under the following provisions of the Florida Statutes:

* * *

(22) Section 847.011, s. 847.012, s. 847.013, s. 847.06, or s. 847.07, relating to obscene literature and profanity.

* * *

(3) 'Enterprise' means any individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, corporation, business trust, union chartered under the laws of this state, or other legal entity, or any unchartered union, association, or group of individuals associated in fact although not a legal entity, and it includes illicit as well as licit enterprises and governmental, as well as other, entities.

(4) 'Pattern of racketeering activity' means engaging in at least two incidents of racketeering conduct that have the same or similar intents, results, accomplices, victims, or methods of commission or otherwise are interrelated by distinguishing characteristics and are not isolated incidents, provided at least one of such incidents occurred after the effective date of this act and that the last of such incidents occurred within 5 years after a prior incident of racketeering conduct."

"943.462 Prohibited activities and defense.--(3) It is unlawful for any person employed by, or associated with, any enterprise to conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, in such enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity or the collection of an unlawful debt.

(4) It is unlawful for any person to conspire or endeavor to violate any of the provisions of subsections (1), (2), or (3)."

It is, by now, axiomatic that any legislative enactment carries with it a strong presumption of constitutionality. <u>State v. Bales</u>, 343 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1977); <u>Askew v. Schuster</u>, 331 So.2d 297 (Fla. 1976); <u>City of Miami v. Kayfety</u>, 92 So.2d 798 (Fla. 1957). Further, all doubts as to the constitutionality of a statute must be resolved in favor of its constitutionality. <u>Ison v. Zimmerman</u>, 372 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1979); <u>Hamilton v. State</u>, 366 So.2d 8 (Fla. 1979); <u>State v. Wershaw</u>, 343 So.2d 605 (Fla. 1977). Finally, words of the Legislature are to be construed in their "plain and ordinary sense." <u>Pederson v. Green</u>, 105 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1958); <u>Reino v. State</u>, 352 So.2d 853 (Fla. 1977).

We do not wonder that Appellants claim the relevant statutory provisions are vague. We suggest, however, that if Appellants find them so, it is only because of the rather contorted method by which they attempt to obfuscate the meaning of

the language. The relevant subsections of Section 943.461, Fla.Stat., when read together with the provisions of Section 943.462(3) and (4) are not unconstitutionally vague. Indeed. when compared with their federal counterpart, the Florida provisions are substantially more precise. The federal statute, 18 U.S.C. §1962, has withstood attack on the ground that it is impermissibly vague on numerous occasions. See, United States v. Companele, 578 F.2d 352 (9th Cir. 1975); United States v. Field, 432 F.Supp. 55 (U.S. Dist.Ct., S.D., N.Y. 1977); United States v. Stofsky, 409 F.Supp. 609 (U.S. Dist. Ct., S.D., N.Y. 1973); United States v. White, 386 F. Supp. 882 (U.S. Dist.Ct., E.D., Wisc. 1974); United States v. Hawes, 529 F.2d 472 (5th Cir. 1976); United States v. Brown, 555 F.2d 407 (5th Cir. 1978), reh.den., 599 F.2d 29, cert.den., 98 S.Ct. 1448, 55 L.Ed.2d 494 (1978); United States v. Parness, 503 F.2d 430 (2nd Cir. 1974), cert.den., 95 S.Ct. 775, 42 L.Ed.2d 801; United States v. Costillano, 416 F.Supp. 125 (U.S.D.C. N.Y. 1975).

Though Appellants make much of comparing "gansters" to "racketeers," we fail to see how they have demonstrated that the sections of the Rico Act under which they were convicted suffer from vagueness. Indeed, Appellants rather appear to wander aimlessly, drawing ill-founded conclusions which lead to the inevitable result that they have only succeeded in becoming lost in rhetoric. Those crimes, which are considered to be bases for "racketeering activity" are set out in Section 943.461, Fla.Stat. The term "pattern of racketeering activity" is more than adequately defined in subsection (4) of that section; similarly the term "enterprise" is defined in subsection (3). Section 943.462(3) and (4), the provisions under which Appellants were charged and convicted, make the proscribed conduct abundantly clear.

We are faced, then, with what is essentially a twostep process. In order that a defendant may be convicted of a violation of either subsection (3) or (4) of Section 943.462, Fla.Stat., it must be established beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant has engaged in a pattern of racketeering activity, to-wit: has engaged in at least two instances of racketeering conduct (i.e., any of those crimes chargeable by indictment or information under the enumerated provisions of Florida Statutes appearing in Section 943.461), which incidents have the same or similar intents, results, accomplices, victims or methods of commission or which incidents are otherwise interrelated by distinguishing characteristics and are not isolated incidents, provided at least one of such incidents occurred after the effective date of the Act and that the last such incident occurred within five years after a prior incident of racketeering conduct. Only after the predicate crimes have been established

can the State move on to the second step of the procedure-establishing the RICO violation itself. Using the case at bar, the State must establish beyond a reasonable doubt, for a violation of subsection (3) of 943.463, e.g., (1) that the defendant was employed by or associated with an enterprise, (2) for the purpose of conducting or participating (directly or indirectly) in the enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity.

C. WHETHER SECTION 943.461(a)(22) (3) and (4) AND SECTION 943.462 (3) and (4) ARE UNCONSTITUTIONALLY OVERBROAD.

The doctrine of overbreadth prohibits a statute from sweeping unnecessarily broadly and prohibiting activity which is constitutionally protected. <u>See Shelton v. Tucker</u>, 346 U.S. 479, 5 L.Ed.2d 231 (1960). Application of the concept has been limited to those cases wherein the statute in question seeks to regulate constitutionally protected speech. <u>Gooding v.</u> <u>Wilson</u>, 405 U.S. 518, 31 L.Ed.2d 408, 92 S.Ct. 1103 (1972); <u>Grayned v. City of Rockford</u>, 408 U.S. 104, 33 L.Ed.2d 222, 92 S.Ct. 2294 (1972); <u>Broadrick v. Oklahoma</u>, 413 U.S. 601, 37 L.Ed.2d 830, 93 S.Ct. 2908 (1973); <u>State v. Bales</u>, 343 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1977); <u>State v. Allen</u>, 362 So.2d 10 (Fla. 1978), footnote 4; <u>Zuppardi v. State</u>, 367 So.2d 601 (Fla. 1978), footnote 4, <u>reh.den.</u>, March 7, 1979. Without really saying how, Appellants contend that Section 943.46, <u>et seq</u>., Fla.Stat., is unconstitutionally overbroad. Basically, what we glean from Appellants' argument is that the Legislature, by passing the RICO statute and "tying" it to the predicate offenses enumerated in Section 943.461, Fla.Stat., the Legislature has cast an "undefined net large enough to endanger free speech, press and association." (See AB 17)

Again, we feel it appropriate to state that for our purposes here, the only relevant statutory provisions are Sections 943.461(a)(22)(3) and (4) and 943.462(3) and (4), Fla.Stat. Appellee submits that these statutory provisions are not overbroad. The predicate crimes <u>sub judice</u> were charged under Sections 847.011(1)(a), Fla.Stat., and 847.07(4)(c), Fla.Stat. Both statutes have been upheld against constitutional challenges on numerous occasions. <u>See</u>, <u>P.A.B., Inc. v. Stack</u>, 440 F.Supp. 937 (U.S.D.C., M.D. 1977); <u>State v. Kraham</u>, 360 So.2d 393 (Fla. 1978); <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 351 So.2d 10 (Fla. 1977); <u>Mitchum v. State</u>, 244 So.2d 159 (Fla. 3 DCA 1971); <u>South Florida</u> <u>Art Theaters, Inc. v. State ex rel. Mounts</u>, 224 So.2d 706 (Fla. 1969), all upholding the constitutionality of Section 847.011(1) (a); <u>see also</u>, <u>State v. Aiuppa</u>, 298 So.2d 391 (Fla. 1974); upholding the provisions of Section 847.07, <u>et seq</u>.

We further venture to point out that 18 U.S.C. §1962 has been held not to violate principles of due process. United States v. Amato, 367 F.Supp. 547 (U.S.D.C. N.Y. 1973).

Returning to the key question here, to-wit: whether the relevant provisions of the RICO Act are unconstitutionally overbroad as applied <u>sub judice</u>, the question must be answered in the negative. For all their protestations and ramblings, Appellants have failed to demonstrate to the contrary.

POINT II

THE RICO ACT IS NOT FACIALLY UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Appellants' argument here is premised on an erroneous assumption. They assume, despite case law to the contrary, that obscenity is constitutionally protected. This Court has already addressed this question and rejected it. <u>Tracey v. State</u>,130 So.2d 605 (Fla. 1961). We point out, as we did in our argument under Point I, that the requisite predicate crimes must first be proven beyond a reasonable doubt before a defendant can be prosecuted under Chapter 947, Fla.Stat.

Appellants contend that Section 943.462(3), Fla.Stat., creates a strict liability crime in that it proscribes as unlawful any person's being associated with an "enterprise to participate directly or indirectly in such enterprise" (AB 18). Appellee suggests Appellants have misread subsection (3). What that provision does proscribe as unlawful is any person's being employed by, or associated with, an enterprise for the purpose of conducting or participating, directly or indirectly, in that enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity or the collection of an unlawful debt. "Racketeering activity" is defined in Section 943.461, Fla.Stat., as committing, attempting to commit, conspiring to commit, or soliciting, coercing or intimidating another to commit any <u>crime</u> chargeable by indictment or information under any of the enumerated provisions of Florida Statutes. One engages in a "pattern of racketeering activity" as provided under Section 943.461(4), Fla.Stat. Clearly, one employed by or associated with any enterprise must <u>intend</u> to conduct orparticipate in such enterprise through a pattern of what is already deemed illegal activity under Section 943.461(1), Fla.Stat.

Appellee submits that Appellants, having pled nolo contendere, admit the facts adduced and every conclusion favorable to the State reasonably and fairly inferable therefrom. <u>Spinkellink v. State</u>, 313 So.2d 666 (Fla. 1975). Whether the materials here involved are obscene is a question of fact. We contend that Appellants, by their plea, have already admitted that the materials were obscene. A question of fact is not properly reserved by a plea of no contest. <u>Gissendanner v. State</u>, 373 So.2d 898 (Fla. 1979). Accordingly, it becomes patently clear that Appellants have based their argument here on an erroneous assumption. Appellants ask "whatever became of due process and freedom of speech, press and association?" (AB 21) In response thereto, we answer--nothing! The United States Constitution and Constitution of the State of Florida still protect those rights. It is simply that <u>sub judice</u> those rights are not being violated. The Constitution does not protect that which it does not guarantee. Obscenity, therefore, is not constitutionally protected.

POINT III

APPELLANTS HAVE IMPROPERLY RAISED QUESTIONS OF FACT.

Appellants state their third argument as follows:

The applicable statute which defines as obscene erotic matter which is not otherwise obscene merely because it has been commercialized misreads <u>Ginzburg v. United States</u>, violated the objective standards of <u>Miller v.</u> <u>California</u> and infringes upon freedom of speech and press.

Clearly, from the wording of the point involved, Appellants seek to have this Court pass upon a question of fact. They presume that the erotic matter here involved is not otherwise obscene. We suggest that this is an evidentiary question which would more properly have been determined by the trier of fact had Appellants chosento go to trial to litigate the issue. On direct appeal from an adverse result such a question would, if properly preserved, be appropriate. Nevertheless, Appellants pled nolo contendere reserving the right to challenge the constitutionality of the RICO Act as applied through Chapter 847, Florida Statutes (R 726, 729). As we have previously pointed out, Appellants have not confined themselves to that narrow issue in their brief before this Court. Indeed, the notices of appeal filed by Appellants individually indicate only an intention to appeal from the judgment and sentence (R 789, 790). In any case, we submit that our sole purpose here relates to the constitutionality of the statutory provisions under which Appellants were charged. Any questions relative to evidentiary matters or matters involving facts which may have been at issue had the case gone to trial, are not reserved upon a plea of no contest. Accordingly, such a question is not properly before this Court. <u>Gissendanner v. State</u>, 373 So.2d 898 (Fla. 1979).

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, Appellee submits that Sections 943.46(1) (a)(22)(3) and (4) and 943.46(2)(3) and (4) are constitutional and this Court should affirm the judgments and sentences below as Appellants have failed to demonstrate to the contrary.